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The Forgotten Shaheeds of Dagshai 
 

K. S. Sarkaria 
 

 
 
 
          § 1. The question.  My family’s connection with Dagshai goes back to 1935 when 
our cottage here was built by my grandfather, Atma Singh Sarkaria.  He used to call it the 
“Singuffa”, or the lion’s cave, and all who see this cottage invariably pose the same 
question: why that door, seemingly to nowhere, on its first floor? 
 
 

 
 
 
          The object in this note is however a different – and an altogether more serious and 
important – question: why does the Dagshai of today not remember the twelve freedom 
fighters who made the supreme sacrifice here in 1915 ?   
 
          There is evidence – see the extracts from publications on the Ghadr discussed in §3 
below – that gives us the names of all the twelve martyrs, and seems conclusive about  
this event here in Dagshai in 1915.  One would think then that these names should be  as 
well-known as Bhagat Singh’s in Dagshai, but I was unable to find a single citizen  – and 
quite a few families have been here for three or more generations –  who had even heard 
of this event!  It seemed to be yet another case of public memory being short, and heroes 
forgotten very quickly.  To help lift the veil of oblivion that had so undeservedly wrapped 
these shaheeds, I started digging into this question a few weeks ago, and this is a roughly 
chronological record of what I have learnt so far. 
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         § 2. An email from Chachaji.  Until last year, I myself was ignorant about this 

event, though I vaguely remember having heard something like it before – maybe from 

my grandfather during one of the stopovers in Dagshai on our way to the plains from 

Simla where my father was posted in the 1950’s ?  – when I was quite small.   

          What woke me up to it was an email, dated January 18, 2006, from my Chachaji, 

who now lives in California.  The relevant extracts follow:--  

 
             ...  about the Ghadr movement, I have found  

some factual data.  One is an episode that took place in Dagshai. 

 

On May 13, 1915, the Sikh soldiers of the 23rd Risala were being shipped from 

Nagaon Cantonment in UP to the war front.  (I assume to   

Mesopotamia.)  At the railway station a piece of luggage of Dafedar   

Wadhawa Singh fell down and a grenade kept in it exploded.  When other   

baggage was searched more grenades were found.  He and others were   

arrested and their links to the Ghadr Party were discovered.  Some of   

the soldiers of the regiment, who were already at the war front, were   

recalled;  all were arrested and a court martial was held in   

Dagshai.  Twelve were sentenced to death and executed by a firing   

squad.  Of the twelve, eleven were Sikhs and one a Muslim.  Some   

others were sent to the Andaman Islands. 

 

Now you should do research to find out the location of their   

execution and cremation.  There are many retired army men in   

Chandigarh.  Maybe they could tell you where or how to search the   

records which the British always diligently kept.  Maybe some student   

at the university could write a thesis on the subject.  … 

 

    I was not able to find much time for these questions then – or a student at the 

university so disposed – but now I have been able to study this problem some more.        
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          § 3.  The evidence.  The extracts [1]-[4] given below tell us that something 
historically very significant happened here in Dagshai in 1915. 
 
          [1]  Amritsar District Gazetteer.  This reference I had found very soon after I 
received Chachaji’s email.  In this computer age my first impulse had been, of course, to 
‘google’ for some source, and it turns out that all the Sikh soldiers were from villages of 
Amritsar district, which has its 1976 gazetteer on-line at the following website.  
 
     http://punjabrevenue.nic.in/gaz_asr8.htm 
 
 
          Appendix VII of this gazetteer lists the names of the eleven Sikh shaheeds :-- 
 

VII. Army men of the 23rd Cavalry court-martialled at Dagshai (near Simla) and 

sentenced to death : 

 

No. Name Village 

1. Bhag Singh Roorhiwala 

2. Mota Singh Do 

3. Dafedar Tara Singh Do 

4. Wadhawa Singh Do 

5. Inder Singh Jeohala 

6. Inder Singh Sahajpur 

7. Dafedar Lachhman Singh Chuslewar 

8. Boota Singh Kasel 

9. Gujjar Singh Lahoke 

10. Jetha Singh Do 

11. Budh Singh Dhotian 

           

          As we’ll see from references [3] and [4] below, there are some mistakes in this 

table, which probably crept in due to careless typing and proof-reading while putting the 

gazetteer on-line: it is Wadhawa Singh at no. 4 who was Dafedar, not Tara Singh at no. 3, 

also Sahajpur should be Sabajpur and village Jeohala is in fact Jeobala.  
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          This gazetteer also proudly lists many other revolutionaries of Amritsar who were 

convicted by the British courts on various counts – insurrection, sedition, murder, 

dacoity, etc. – subsequent to the unravelling of the Ghadr of 1915.  Of particular interest 

for Dagshai is that its appendix VI also gives us the names of the six cavalrymen who 

were transported to the Andamans:-- 

 VI. Persons belonging to 23rd Cavalry, originally sentenced to death by a military 

court, but their sentences commuted later into transportation for life : 

 

No. Name Village 

1. Bishan Singh Sathiala 

2. Bishan Singh No.2 Do 

3. Natha Singh Do 

4. Kehar Singh Do 

5. Chanan Singh Dhand Kasel 

6. Nand Singh Rai ka Burj 

 

          As [3] and [4] will show, there is a mistake here too: nos. 1-4 were from Dhotian, 

not Sathiala (the native village of no. 1 in the district’s Lahore Conspiracy Case list, so 

this seems to be a cutting-and-pasting error that was again (!) left un-corrected by the 

babu in-charge of the district; such blunders were rare in pre-partition gazetteers).  

         There is more on no. 6 of the above table, i.e., Nand Singh of Rai ka Burj,  in the 

next reference [2], which was brought to my attention last September by Chachaji. 
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          [2]  “The Encyclopaedia of Sikhism, Volume III” (editor Harbans Singh, Punjabi 

University, Patiala, 1997). Looking up “Dagshai” in its cumulative index had yielded two 

entries, of which only the following was about the Ghadr:-- 

 

           I began now, on 27/06/2007, with S.S.J.’s sources – see [3], [4] below – both say  

execution was by hanging, and that Charan Singh above should in fact be Chanan Singh.  
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          [3] “Ghadr Parti da Itihas” by Gurcharan Singh Sainsara  (Jalandhar 1961).  

The 23rd Risala figured prominently from the beginning in the plans of the Ghadr leaders, 

but,  just for the connection with Dagshai, pp. 216-218 of this book suffice:-- 
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          From the above – see  p. 217 bottom and p. 218 – we have now all the eighteen 

names: the twelfth shaheed was Abdullah Nayalband of district Lahore.   

          Facing p. 218 of this book are three photographs, two are reproduced below:-- 
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           I have omitted the third photograph because its caption, ‘Sawar Dhian Singh’, 

does not match any of the 18 names given, but possibly this Dhian Singh ties with the 

book’s  unexplained “aad” after twelve names on the bottom of p. 217 ?  

           The book does not mention the specific sources of these photos, though it seems 

reasonable that these could have been obtained from the sawars’ regimental records, or 

else, from some present-day descendants in their extended families. 

            As per the above account, the Dafedar Wasawa Singh whose exploding box led to 

the unmasking of the plot – and who later spilled the beans and turned approver with 

some others – was distinct from Dafedar Wadhawa Singh (cf. Chachaji’s e-mail).  The 

latter, like all others convicted at Dagshai, was, according to this account, already on the 

(way to the) front.  If so, the possibility arises – cf. O’Dwyer’s version [5] below, who 

says the British knew that the 23rd was “tainted”, but lacking evidence had sent suspects 

towards the front anyway – that the box-exploding incident was contrived between the 

approvers and the British to manufacture the needed evidence? 

 

Notes 

           [3.i] This book is formally authored by the “Desh Bhagat Yaadgar Committee,” and is no 
exception to the rule that books written by committees – for example, most of the text books inflicted on 
our school students by the N.C.E.R.T.  –  are less than first-rate.  Luckily however, this book was written 
almost entirely by just one of the committee member, Gurcharan Singh Sainsara, who has done a 
reasonably  scholarly job, but we are informed on p. 9 that his drafts were approved – it would seem for 
left-wing ideological ‘correctness’? – at numerous meetings of the entire committee.    

              [3.ii] There is an amazing allegation made by this Committee against the then government of 
Nehru on p. 8 of this book, namely, that hundreds of pages of notes made by them for writing this book, 
from original documents in the National Archives of India, were confiscated by the Home Ministry on the 
pretext of national security !  In 1960, about a rebellion that occurred way, way back in 1915 ?  The 
insinuation plainly is that some Congress leader of 1915 – maybe the Mahatma himself – could be exposed, 
by the de-classification of these secret documents, as having collaborated with the British against the 
Ghadrites at that time.  If there is any truth in this allegation, there is an interesting story here.  
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           [4] “Ghadar Parti Lahir” by Jagjit Singh  (Taran Taran 1955).  Since our 

concern is only with evidence that connects Dagshai with the 23rd Cavalry mutineers, just 

the following two pages, 494-495, of this treatise should suffice :-- 

 

 

           Just like [3], this earlier book also asserts that the twelve cavalrymen were hanged, 

not executed by firing squad.  The names of the twelve hanged, and of the six  whose 

sentences were commuted to life imprisonment, are given in tabular form on pp. 678-679 

of this book (the footnote on p. 678 however suggests the possibility that “executed” 

became hanged merely because of a mis-translation from English into Punjabi) :--  
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          The book [3] by Gurcharan Singh does not refer to this earlier book by Jagjit 

Singh, but the same photo of Lachhman Singh of Chuslewar, again without any 

attribution as to source, can be found also in this book: facing p. 617.   
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          The story on pp. 617-618 of this book about Abdullah – both [3] and [4]  fail to 

give us the exact location of his native place, but put it in district Lahore  – is touching.  

According to it, the British tried to make him state-approver, pointing out that otherwise 

he would go to his death hanging next to the kaffir Lachhman Singh.  To this Abdullah 

replied: “Were I to go to the gallows with Lachhman Singh, then surely will I find 

Paradise!”  For this story the author cites, Bandi Jeevan, by S. N. Sayal, p. 112.   

          I have not been able to find this book, a Punjabi translation of the reminiscences – 

published in 1943 in Bengali – of its author, who served a prison term in the Andamans 

following conviction in the Banaras Conspiracy Case.  Though Sanyal was one of the 

Bengali revolutionaries who had worked in Punjab – notably with Kartar Singh Sarabha – 

it seems quite unlikely that he had met either Lachhman Singh or Abdullah during these 

few days, and being a civilian, it seems on the face of it almost certain that he could not 

have shared a military prison with these two.  However, it is quite possible that Sanyal 

could have heard of this story later on, in the Cellular Jail, from one of the six surviving 

court-martialled mutineers of the 23rd, who had been in Dagshai jail with Abdullah and 

Lachhman Singh prior to their execution ? 

          A glaring lacuna remains: the above references give no Dagshai-specific details 

about the imprisonment, court-martial, or executions of the 23rd Cavalry’s rebels.  

Yes, since it was wartime,  this army trial of 1915 was probably in camera and very 

summary, as well as, obviously, very harsh towards the accused.  Yet, without clinching 

proof of these soldiers’ actual physical presence here in Dagshai at that time, the question 

of  § 1 takes on a very different aspect.  Yes, the evidence is almost conclusive towards a 

court-martial here, and in that case the death sentences handed out by this tribunal were 

also probably carried out here in Dagshai only, but – without corroborative details of the 

kind mentioned – we cannot put flesh on bare bones, we cannot be certain.  The 

possibility remains that the above evidence is yet another door to nowhere … 

Notes 

         [4.i] As per military law there is no provision of an appeal against conviction in a court-martial, only 
a reduction in sentence is possible after review.  Actually, even the civilian Ghadrites were tried under the 
newly enacted “Defence of India Act”, which had curtailed the usual rights of the civilian accused severely.  
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Each case was conducted, at least nominally, per the usual rules of procedure in civilian court; however, 
once convicted, the only appeal possible was for clemency; no appeal was possible against either 
conviction or sentence.  All this is discussed, for example, in Appendix 2, pp. 643-650, of Jagjit Singh’s 
book, where he also tells us that the public and press were barred from the courtrooms, but an official 
abstract of each working day’s proceedings was handed out late in the evening to the waiting journalists.  

         [4.ii]  However, Jagjit Singh accepts – p. 644 – on the basis of personal interviews that were given by 
the revolutionaries returning from the Andamans after serving their prison terms, that there was mostly 
truth in a judge’s assertion that the then Punjab Police had not concocted evidence to convict the accused.  
With rare exceptions, most interviewees admitted that they had indeed committed the acts for which they 
had been held legally responsible.  Jagjit Singh is by no means alone in this respect: the facts found in all  
histories of the Ghadr are derived largely from the judgements of the Lahore Conspiracy Cases only.  

         [4.iii]  It is also noteworthy that in neither [3] nor [4] is there  mention of the Punjab Police of 1915 
resorting to anything like “fake encounters” to suppress that rebellion.   Also, the Defence of India Act, 
though violative of the norms of human rights, was obviously degrees better than the more draconian 
T.A.D.A. and P.O.T.A., which have been repeatedly used in recent times. 

         [4.iv]  Probably you have solved by now the puzzle about Singuffa’s door to nowhere?  The date of 
its construction and the picture – the corner room is what it seems to be, a toilet – were giveaways: things 
have improved a lot now, and it is no longer customary to have outside ladders for safai karamcharis.  
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          §4. Primary sources ?  The extracts [3] and [4] more than suffice for the ‘factual 

data’ mentioned by Chachaji, but these books – likewise the Amritsar gazetteer [1] of 

1976 – were written decades after the events of 1915.  So it is necessary to check their 

citations.  It is encouraging that  Dagshai is mentioned as the site of the court-martial, and 

the table of the soldiers convicted is given, even in the earliest of the above  references, 

viz., the 1955 book [4] by Jagjit Singh.  Also, I was encouraged by the footnote placed by 

him on his table of the condemned, which suggested that it might  be a simple matter to 

push back the provenance of this data to at least 1925.   

            [5]  “India as I Knew It : 1885-1925” by Michael O’Dwyer,   Constable, 

London (1925).  Pages 200-203 of this book are shown below:-- 
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            Unfortunately, though one does find on p. 203 the words, “eighteen men of the 

regiment were sentenced to death, and twelve were actually executed,” the name of their  

regiment is not mentioned, and Dagshai figures nowhere in this book.  Furthermore, its 

haughty author – the Lieutenant-Governor of the Punjab throughout the tumultous time  

from the return of Kartar Singh Sarabha to Jallianwala Bagh – deigns it beneath his 

dignity to actually name any of the condemned soldiers. 

             That the regiment’s name is missing is not serious.  O’Dwyer’s own account, 

dovetailed with [6] below, shows beyond doubt that it was the 23rd Cavalry.   Apparently, 

O’Dwyer – an Irishman from Tipperary who remained loyal to his masters even as his 

own countrymen were fighting for their independence from the British – is only 
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conveying that he found the disloyalty of this “disaffected Sikh squadron”, which had 

contributed to his personal escort, so reprehensible, that he won’t mention it by name.   

            In fact, it may be that these rebels came in for especially harsh treatment from this 

despot because of their “misfortune” of having been once in his personal escort?  “I was 

too busy at the time to enquire how many of these had been among my protective escort  

prior to the 19th February” (p. 203) sounds like an alibi: so it may indeed be worthwhile 

to find out the names of  the “dozen men” who were in O’Dwyer’s escort? 

            More serious is that this book is of no help at all in confirming the rebels’ names, 

or – for us – the crucial fact that the court-martial was indeed in Dagshai only. 

Notes 

       [5.i]  Nevertheless, O’Dwyer’s book is a valuable picture of the times as seen from the other side.  At 

this distance, it is only amusing when we read of  Lajpat Rai and Ajit Singh as  “notorious” (p. 129),  Har 

Dayal  as “most sinister” (p. 185), Rash Behari Bose as “inciting his dupes” (p. 203), etc.   However, his 

take (p.33) on the massacre of  the 131 Akalis at Nankana Sahib in 1921, and even more so, his version –  

“Dyer’s Action at Amritsar, 13th April” (pp. 283-285) – of the earlier 1919 massacre at Jallianwala, are 

anything but amusing.  Brigadier Dyer had the full, and probably prior, approval of Lieutenant-Governor 

Michael O’Dwyer.  Later, in 1940, O’Dwyer was “executed” for this by (Shaheed) Udham Singh.  

       [5.ii]  These flaws of perception and judgement are the corollaries of the fact that he was, like many 

other Irishmen in India, excessively and unquestioningly – ‘my country, right or wrong’ ? – loyal towards 

the country then oppressing his own, Ireland.  Outside of this, O’Dwyer’s book is at times quite enjoyable, 

for there are in it many – these are mostly pre-1912 – interesting anecdotes and episodes, which the author 

describes with charm and typical Irish wit, and often, even love.  

             The other references given in [4] were some pages from the judgement of the 

‘Second Case’ – more precisely, as Jagjit Singh explains on p. 647, the “Supplementary 

Lahore Conspiracy Case” of 1915-16 – and the following report [6] on the Ghadr 

conspiracy that was published soon afterwards by two officers of the then Punjab Police.  

Since this account, which we shall review now, gives a very good idea of what one can 

and cannot expect to see in the court judgement, it would be fair to say that with the next  

review, we would have essentially checked all the sources cited by Jagjit Singh.  
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          [6]  “An Account of the Ghadr Conspiracy (1913-1915)” by F. C. Isemonger 

and J. Slattery, Superintendent Government Printing, Punjab, Lahore (1919); the 

extracts given below are however from a recent reprint of the original brought out by 

Archana Publications, Meerut, in 2001, with a foreword by V. P. Vatuk :-- 

 

            This account should be compared and contrasted with that in the second and third 

paragraphs on the 23rd Risala in Jagjit Singh [4], pp. 494-495 (the quotation about Prem 

Singh’s nature in the first paragraph is from p. 139 – not p. 121 – of this reprint [6]).  

          Unlike O’Dwyer [5], the regiment is now named, but again, there is no mention of 

the place where the court-martial was held, and neither is the list of its accused  given (as 

against this, long lists of the accused of various civilan cases are given as Appendices).  

However some men – see below – of  the 23rd Cavalry Regiment are mentioned by name 

on various pages of this book. The above extract also raises an unexpected difficulty: it 

says, “10 were sentenced to death”, a numerical discrepancy with the figures in [1]-[5].    
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            A summary of the Supplementary Conspiracy Case of 1915 and its findings 

constitutes sections 81 and 82 of Part III of Isemonger and Slattery’s book, these are 

given in the extract – pp. 146-148 of the reprint – reproduced next.  Besides, there is also 

a 12-page long Appendix D, which I have not reproduced, that gives the names of all the 

102 accused of this case, the sections under which they were charged, and the sentences 

awarded; it also gives the names of the 29 state approvers of this case.  In fact the list of 

civilians convicted that one finds in [1], [3] or [4], are simplified versions of the lists 

given in the appendices of Isemonger and Slattery, and, I presume, these in turn  are close 

replicas of the official lists of the various civilian court cases.  
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             This book, brought out by a civilian department, is not concerned with the army 

trials, in particular, with the court-martial that we are interested in.  This court-martial is 

mentioned only fleetingly (Part III, no. 62, previous extract) and apparently not with the 
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same care as the rest of the book, only as an example of the serious consequences of  a 

crime – ‘seduction of troops’ – that was allegedly committed by some of the civilian 

accused of the Supplementary Conspiracy Case,  see pp. 147-148 above. 

              These were Prem Singh of Sursingh (no. 67 of Appendix D, death penalty), Hira 

Singh of Charar (no. 28 of Appendix D, transportation for life) and two ex-sawars of the 

23rd Cavalry who had deserted early on, namely, Maharaj Singh of Kasail and Sucha 

Singh of Chola Kalan (nos. 52 and 82 of Appendix D, transported for life, the third ex-

sawar  Surain Singh of Shahbazpur, is approver no. xv in Appendix D).    

             Page 148 of the last extract also mentions the religious leader, (Bhai) Randhir 

Singh of Narangwal (no. 69 of Appendix D, transported for life) – who struck the 

tribunal as “obviously a very vain man” – who seems to have been convicted apparently 

for misleading all sorts of youth in general through his sermons!  The Kartar Singh that 

Bhai Randhir Singh is compared unfavourably with by the tribunal – as far as brains for 

revolutionary kind of activities go – is of course (Shaheed) Kartar Singh Sarabha, who 

had been arrested on 2nd  March, 1915 (see page 131 of this book) and already sentenced 

to death by hanging in the main Lahore Conspiracy Case (he is no. 39 in Appendix C of 

this book, that gives names of all the 82 accused and 10 approvers of this case).    

             Sarabha was during 1913-1914 a student of chemistry at the University of 

California, Berkeley – see  page 38, also page 53 where a British spy reports, “The 

students at Berkeley, California, are also believed to be almost universally tainted with 

Ghadr ideas.” – and was one of the thousands of Sikhs who returned from U.S.A., 

Canada, etc., to India in 1914-1915 to attempt this abortive revolution.  However, as this 

exciting account by two British police officers brings home, its failure was by no means a 

foregone conclusion.  This revolution had been timed reasonably well.  But for a string of 

fortunate – from the British point of view – accidents, resulting mostly from the Ghadrite 

leaders not paying enough attention to details, the game might well have gone differently. 

A decisive role was played by the British spy with contacts in the 23rd Cavalry – the 

Kirpal Singh mentioned on p. 132 – who turned out to be very capable:  he informed  the 

British in advance of the date(s) that Rash Behari fixed for this Ghadr !  
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            However I digress, and sweeping but unverifiable theories about great historical 

events are rather commonplace.  After drawing a blank in [5] and [6] we must address the  

more basic and well-defined question:  was the court-martial held at Dagshai? 

           I conclude by listing the sawars of the 23rd  mentioned by name in [6], for  this 

could help in solving the above riddle.  These are, their leader Lance-Dafedar Lachman 

Singh (pp. 82-83, 124); Balwant Singh of Barar, a returned emigrant from Shanghai, who 

enlisted to serve as a liaison with the Ghadrites (pp. 83, 122, 124), but facilitated more 

the covert work of his cousin, the spy Kirpal Singh of Barar, also back from Shanghai 

(pp.122-124, 132); the regimental granthi Mul Singh, who advised prudence at the wrong 

time (pp. 82, 106) and later very prudently became a state approver;  Sucha Singh of 

Chola Kalan, the sawar who first brought the news about the Ghadr to the regiment, 

who deserted later with two others, was finally arrested and convicted in the 

Supplementary Conspiracy Case, however, instead of being transported to the 

Andamans, he was amongst those sent – because of an overcrowded Cellular Jail – to the 

Hazaribagh Central Jail in Bihar, from where he escaped in 1918, and was at large when 

this book was published (pp. 81-83, 147-148, 168); and the other deserter, Maharaj Singh 

of Kasail, also awarded life imprisonment in the same case (pp. 147-148).  

Note 

            [6.i] Till the seventies or so the state printing presses provided a useful service to scholars by re-
issuing government publications that had gone out of print.  The binding was bad, but the price was great,   
and, one was assured of the one thing which matters, the authenticity of the text, because the reprinting was 
from the original typesetting.   Then at some point a decision was made – maybe by some enterprising civil 
servant who caught the whiff of approaching liberalisation – to terminate this useful service.  Since most 
copyrights have lapsed, reprints can be made by just about any one, and with government presses out of the 
way, these cheaply made reprints can sell even if unreasonably priced (however sometimes the marked 
price is so high even in dollars that practically no one in India will buy them).  Most of the remaining and 
reasonably priced reprints, for example [6], appear to be brought out by individuals or organisations 
dedicated to keeping the memory of a particular historical figure or movement alive.  It is regrettable that 
Dr. V. P. Vatuk, who has, according to the blurb of [6],  “For decades worked with people dedicated to 
preserve and honor Gadar heroes’ memory”, did not tell its publishers that they were not honouring this 
memory adequately by bringing out such a reprint.  Perhaps a reprographic process was cost-prohibitive, 
but the original page breaks could easily have been indicated in the margin.  As such, one can only hope 
there are not other, more serious, departures: for example, for all I know, the numerical discrepancy – ‘10 
sentenced to death’ – may only be the contribution of Archana Publications to this mystery ? 
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            This curious lack of evidence about the court-martial became, if anything, still 

more acute, when I stumbled on the following scholarly article, which is available on-line  

at www.csas.ed.ac.uk/papers.php, and whose title clearly promises us so much. 

             [7]  “The Anatomy of Dissent in the Military of Colonial India During the First 

and Second World Wars,” by Gajendra Singh,  Edinburgh Papers in South Asian 

Studies, no. 20 (2006), 45 pp. 

             This paper is completely silent about the said court-martial!  And this, not 

because it is, by any means, confined to dissent on the war-front.  It has many paragraphs 

about dissent in Punjab during the Ghadr, and both [5] and [6] are amongst its references.  

One would think, considering the topic being researched, that the author would have 

jumped at the lead provided by the mention of the court-martial of the 23rd Cavalry 

squadron in both [5] and [6].  Indeed, considering the number of soldiers executed or 

awarded life imprisonment, this case might be one of the most serious instances of 

“collective dissent” – to the anatomy of which about half of this paper is devoted,  the 

remaining half dissects “individual dissent” – during the First World War.   

            What makes this silence positively deafening is that this paper has also the 

following  quotation from Isemonger and Slattery [6] on p. 26 : 

            “Your lack of organization and method have succeeded in disgusting the rank-

and-file.  They have grown tired of remaining idle and have returned home.” 

             And, the footnote (no.114) that embellishes it informs us that the above words 

were spoken by Lance-Dafadar Lachman Singh to Nawab Khan and Kartar Singh 

Sarabha.   Assuming that this is true, it is truly baffling why this work, on individual and 

collective dissent in the military of  colonial India, should fail to mention a court-martial 

– mentioned in the book cited ! – in  which the same Lachman Singh, along with many 

other fellow cavalrymen, was later condemned to death ?  

             The reprint [6] of Isemonger of Slattery that I am using has also the same 

quotation (on page 85, not page 105 as the aforementioned footnote 114 tells us) but it 

says the words were spoken, according to Nawab Singh’s statement, which Isemonger 
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and Slattery are discussing in “9. Temporary Cessation of Activity” of Part III of [6], not 

by the Lance-Dafadar or any other soldier, but by one civilian named Hari Singh of 

Herian, a fellow-emigrant back home in India for the Ghadr, and – see pp. 84-85 of [6] 

reproduced below – all the disgusted people returning home are also civilans :-- 

 

            It seems that Gajendra Singh is using a version of  Isemonger-Slattery which is 

different not only from my [6], but also from the version(s) used by Gurcharan Singh [3] 

or Jagjit Singh [4]: the page numbers cited in [3] or [4], respectively [7], correspond to 

bigger, respectively smaller, page numbers of [6].  But is there a version so materially 

different from mine that (i) it puts the above quotation in the mouth of Lance-Dafedar 

Lachman Singh and has disgusted soldiers, instead of civilians, returning to their homes 

(= barracks?), and (ii) it fails to mention a subsequent court-martial in which the very 

same Lachman Singh along with some other cavalrymen was condemned to death ? 



 25

              Could be – stranger things have happened ! – but it seems more likely to me that 

Gajendra Singh has made, let us say, a Freudian slip ?  For a possible answer to what 

could have led to it, I have reproduced next pp. 25-26 from his paper [7]:-- 
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           It seems from the above that the author gives great importance to the disconnect 

between the returning emigrants’ leftist ideas, and the more traditional ones of the Sikh 

troops they were attempting to subvert.  Undoubtedly, these ideological differences 

contributed to the Ghadr’s failure, and all books acknowledge this, though opinion as to 



 27

importance varies.  However, it is a bit too much when a historian cites (in this case, a 

‘quotation’ of a Lance-Dafedar) and omits to cite (this same Lance-Dafedar’s court-

martial) from the very same book, only according to whether it suits, or does not suit, his 

theory.  And, certainly, the line has been crossed, when his obsession with his pet theory 

makes him unconsciously (?) replace an inconvenient civilian, who actually spoke those 

quoted words, with a soldier who never spoke them. 

 Notes 

       [7.i] By giving page reproductions from some references I hope I have minimized my own contribution 
to the possible multiplication of error.  The reader has the original conveniently before him, while he might  
have been loathe to check it if I had merely appended a citation.  However, this works only for statements 
of the type ‘X is in Y’, no technology seems available for reinforcing statements of the type ‘X is not in Y’,  
where Y is long with no index.  And, even page reproductions would be quite impracticable for someone 
painting a broader picture than the, admittedly very narrow, problem that we are focussed on.  For example, 
were  William Dalrymple’s brilliant book, “The Last Mughal” (Penguin/Viking 2006), to contain page 
reproductions of even one-third of his references, its considerable length would multiply by at least ten.  
But then, an important question arises: how are these scholarly books or papers, with hundreds of citations, 
refereed  for accuracy?  We have seen inaccuracies in practically each and every one of the references we 
reviewed above, but surely, even the most conscientious of referees cannot be expected to analyse hundreds 
of citations.  However, because accuracy is so important, some serious effort should be made, for example, 
a detailed analysis of a small but statistically significant sample of the citations, should help a lot.  

        [7.ii] It is true that error has a way of creeping into even the most careful of works, and even the 
greatest of  mathematicians have made non-trivial mistakes.  Yet, precision is important in all disciplines.  
It is needed as a mathematician chips away at error through counterexample and proof to arrive at a 
beautiful truth, it is needed as a sculptor chips away material from a block to arrive at a beautiful form.  
However, there is more to a discipline than precision.  Just as poetry is more than  precise metre, 
mathematics is more than logical precision. To quote from an address of Marston Morse (see his “Collected 
Papers” Vol. 2, World Scientific, 1987, p.1010):  “The speakers were not hostile to mathematics; 
mathematics was even emphasized, but frequently for erroneous or insufficient reasons.  One of the 
contributors writes … ‘pure mathematics with its unparalled precision’ … Yet, who wants to be precise 
except on occasion ?  To give play to the imagination, to create and form ideas, to have a mastery of 
language and logic, to have that freedom that comes from recognition of dogma, and the open acceptance 
or rejection of an axiom at will, to recognize how much one does not know, or can not know; these things 
are all in mathematics.”    

         [7.iii] In India the common perception of mathematics is, in fact, ludicrous. Most school students 
think of it as a subject in which no logic (!)  is needed, only some methods – like finding h.c.f. – have to be 
memorized, the crucial thing being to practise these ad nauseum, preferably in a reputed tuition academy, 
till the high level of speed and numerical accuracy required to ace the all-important exams – set by people 
who themselves have the same ludicrous perception of mathematics – have  been attained.  Verily is the tail 
wagging the dog!  To my eyes, what is passing for it here in India, is about as close to mathematics as my 
saying chan-chen-chin-chow-chuw is close to speaking Chinese.  An intelligent non-mathematical person,  
who enjoys doing crossword puzzles or Sudokus, is closer to being a mathematician than the majority of 
the M.Sc.’s, and even some of the Ph.D.’s, in “mathematics” that Indian universities are producing.   These 
latter have no inkling of what logical precision – let alone the finer things that Morse told us are also to be 
found in mathematics – means, and can not think out on their own even one problem from the International 
Mathematical Olympiad (a test for gifted school students) even if given all the time in the world for it.  
Nevertheless, most tuition academies are run by such individuals only.  
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       [7.iv] Similarly, accuracy about facts is only one part, but a key part, of being a  historian.   In the 
West, even historical minutae have been lovingly preserved, for example, in the public library of Lille, I 
once saw what seemed to be no more than a local gossip column – which lord’s daughter was engaged to 
which baron’s son, etc. – for the time preceeding the Battle of Hastings in 1066 A.D.  In India, facts about 
even relatively very recent events are quite blurred, so the energy of its historians should be spent more on 
bringing these blurred facts into focus, rather than theorizing from thin air.  As Dalrymple, op. cit., pp. 13-
14,  points out – with just a wee bit of poetic license – “For a time when ten thousand dissertations … have 
ingeniously theorized about orientalism and colonialism … all invariably given titles with obscure meaning 
– Gendering the Colonial Paradigm,  Constructing the Imagined Other, Othering the Imagined 
Construction,  …. not one PhD has ever been written from the Mutiny Papers.”  These unused Mutiny 
Papers were conveniently there all the time, in the National Archives of India, “in a magnificent Lutyens-
period building bang in the centre of India’s capital city.  Using the Mutiny Papers and properly harvesting 
their riches as a source for 1857 felt at times as strange and exciting – and indeed as unlikely – as going to 
Paris and discovering, unused on the shelves of the Bibliotheque Nationale, the entire records of the French 
Revolution.”  One can’t help feeling that the full answer to our little mystery is also probably lying around, 
neglected, in these or some other well-known archives ?  

          [7.v]  This lost opportunity (failure to use these and other easily available archives) on the part of 
Delhi’s historians – maybe the younger ones on its campuses were ‘too busy’ preparing for the exam into 
babudom? – means that Dalrymple is probably the first writer who has truly brought home the extent of the 
massacres committed by the British in Delhi after the city was retaken in 1857.  These rival in numbers, 
and perhaps surpass in cold-bloodedness, those committed before in Delhi by Nadir Shah – see p.391 of 
Dalrymple for his comparison – and  Tamer Lane. 

          [7.vi] I have dealt only with honest errors in all of the above.  These are almost inevitable, and not 
even the best, and the most sincere, of researchers is immune from them.  There is a world of difference – 
and every researcher worth the name can easily spot this difference – between this, and inherently shoddy,  
insincere, deceptive, or even fraudulent work.  The state of Indian academia being what it is – the remarks 
made in  note [7.iii] above about the current quality of our M.Sc.’s and Ph.D.’s generalize to all disciplines 
– work of this kind is, unfortunately,  more the rule than an exception in all our universities.       

              

      

 

 

 

 

 

 



 29

            §5. Quo vadis?  Clearly its omission in [7] is unimportant, the court-martial 

almost certainly happened; and, it is equally clear that, the one and only satisfactory way 

of putting the issue to rest is to obtain the court-martial’s record.  So I emailed this 

request to some likely places.  Only an archivist from the British Library has replied so 

far (11/07/07): he did a brief search on my behalf through the India Office Records, and 

feels a more thorough search will yield the desired information.  The National Archives 

of India in Delhi did not reply, but I’ve found some very helpful people, including a 

cousin of mine who used to be a full Colonel in the army before he quit to run a model 

farm.  These friends are even now looking through the National, as well as the Army, 

Archives in Delhi, so I am hopeful that we’ll soon have this ‘smoking gun’. 

            In the meantime, I have – with my wife as an (occasionally reluctant) research 

assistant – continued my investigations in Dagshai.  I’ve still not found  a native who is 

aware of this event of 1915.  The principals of its two public schools assured me that their 

libraries had nothing other than text books, etc., and both felt that their students had 

neither time nor taste for any outside reading (I was hoping that one of these libraries 

might have some old tome from around 1915 with maybe some local Dagshai gossip or 

information).  One of these gentlemen has taught history for long in his school but 

confessed disarmingly that his knowledge of local history did not go beyond the well-

worn ‘Daag-e-shahi to Dagshai’ story about the town’s name.  This old story is told in an  

article – see [8] below -- from a newspaper that is posted in front of Dagshai prison. 

            Note [8.i].  The Punjab Gazetteer, Simla District, 1888-89, p.29 has this about Dagshai’s origin: 
“This small district, consisting of the five villages named Dabbi, Bughtiala, Dagshai, Chunaweg and 
Jawug, was transferred to the British Government without compensation in 1847, by the Maharaja of 
Patiala, for the purpose of a cantonment.  The whole of the lands attached to the abovenamed villages have 
been included within the limits of the cantonment.”  Thus, one of the original villages was also named 
Dagshai. Accordingly, in the version of this story now on the web, it was not the British, but an unspecified 
eighteenth century ‘Mughal’, who initiated this habit of tattooing the prisoners foreheads indelibly with the 
royal stigma, the Daag-e-Shahi. The entire Simla hills was under the Gurkhas for about five years till – see, 
e.g., B.D.Sanwal, “Nepal and the East India Company”, Asia Publishing (1965) – the Battle of Malaon 
(1815), in which David Ochterlony, with some help from the Patiala forces,  finally managed to beat Amar 
Singh Thapa.  The Gurkhas were forced to cede their conquests to the British, who returned most of the hill 
kingdoms to their erstwhile rajas, except in those cases where the raja had actively aided the Gurkhas.  
Some or all of these rajas territories were given in gratitude to their battlefield ally,  the Maharaja of 
Patiala.  After some decades the British had second thoughts, they decided to build the cantonments of 
Simla, Dagshai, etc., and, for this purpose, they got the requisite land back from the Maharaja of Patiala, 
who continued however to hold very substantial tracts of the Simla hills till at least 1947.   
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          [8]  A newspaper article posted in Dagshai prison, by Fateh Singh Chauhan.  

Though its history is shaky, the layout and construction of this Central Jail are fairly well 

described in this article (if only some unfortunate partition walls could be removed, and 

the place cleared of clutter,  this jail can still be restored, with a minimum of cost, from 

the godown it has become, to a rough approximation of its original):--  
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            If the 1915 court-martial of the 23rd Cavalry was indeed in Dagshai, then Lance-

Dafedar Lachman Singh and his seventeen followers must have been kept (most 

probably) in the cells of this prison only.  However, in the above extract, Chauhan avers 

that this prison was meant, and had been used, exclusively for British prisoners only.  

Most other citizens of Dagshai also subscribe to this view,  and quite a few locals shall 

tell you that, till quite late into the 1900’s,  non-whites other than regimental menials and 

domestics were not even allowed by the British to come above the Cart Road.  

             Anyway, here is a picture showing five of this prison’s fifty cells :-- 

 

            At website http://coad.neuf.fr/donohoe.htm, which has much of interest for 

Dagshai, you can read how some Gurkha soldiers of the Nasiri regiment, then stationed at 

Sabathu, Kasauli, and Jutogh, who revolted during 1857, were brought to this prison 

only, and executed in Dagshai.  This would of course imply that Chauhan’s satement is 
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incorrect, however it is probably true for the time period 1917-47, and the most famous 

of this prison’s prisoners,  whom we discuss next, were certainly white.  

            Connaught Rangers. Even as Lieutenant-Governor O’Dwyer was extolling the 

British barbarity in Jallianwala Bagh, many of his countrymen were fighting for the 

independence of Ireland.  The news from back home, about British barbarity against 

some of these guerilla fighters, ignited in 1920 a mutiny in this Irish regiment, that spread 

quickly from Jalandhar to other cantonments.  Two mutineers were killed, and the 

remaining arrested, and put in Dagshai prison; later, fourteen were sentenced to death, 

though eventually only one, the firebrand James Daly, was executed, here in Dagshai 

prison, by firing squad (one prisoner John Miranda had died during imprisonment). 

            A truly staggering – especially as compared to the pathetic paucity of available 

information regarding the 23rd Cavalry’s mutineers  – amount of information is available 

about these Irish rebels. Clearly, Ireland has preserved the memory of its heroes, and 

India has not.  One finds from the internet even trivia about their court-martial – for 

example, that a famous British actor’s father was one of the judges – and about their stay 

here in Dagshai prison, and the exact wording of the execution order for Daly, details 

about his execution, also we learn that first his body was interred in an unsanctified grave 

near the prison, much later in 1970 exhumed and properly reburied as hero in Ireland.  

Since this is all so easily available, there is no point in my repeating it.  Here are two of 

the numerous websites that have something to say about this Irish mutiny in India:-- 

http://www.factbug.org/cgi-bin/a.cgi?a=975969 
 
http://www.tipperary-central.com/forumcgi-
bin/prntopic.cgi?cid=262&fid=488&tid=760 
             

             Browsing through this material I have found so far only one possible clue to our 

riddle: an Irish prisoner reminisces that a large number of Indian prisoners had died in 

Dagshai prison in 1916 – were these of the 23rd Cavalry ? – and that after this, Dagshai 

prison had remained empty till the Irish came.  Another item of interest was that the Irish 

court-martial was in the  Gymnasium.  Though I have not pinpointed this building as yet, 

it is probably a part of the Army Public School now.  Could it be, then, that the1915 
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court-martial of Lachman Singh and others was also in this building?   We learnt during 

our last visit that a film crew from Ireland had shot in Dagshai Prison scenes for a 

documentary movie – complete with actors playing the roles of Daly and the other 

mutineers – last  year.  I need to check out this movie,  also find the teacher of A.P.S. 

(our helpful guide had forgotten the name) who was their liaison, and who, according to 

our guide, is writing a book on this prison?  Lets hope that he, at least, is aware of the 

court-martial of the 23rd Cav, otherwise his book will skip it!  That Daly was executed by 

firing squad, and that this prison has no gallows in it, does not imply that the soldiers of 

the 23rd were executed by firing squad.  The Gurkha mutineers of 1857 could have been 

hanged elsewhere – cf. p. 200 of Dalrymple’s “The Last Mughal,” a British hero of 1857 

recommends that Indians be put to death only by hanging to save gunpowder – likewise, 

our 12 shaheeds of 1915, but this ‘elsewhere’ may well be in  Dagshai only.  

            Dagshai Gallows?  The helpful commanding officer of the Gurkha regiment now 

in Dagshai assured me that the town had one, see picture below.  It is a modest affair, and 

with no scaffold or pit to see now – nothing but the stuff of an N.C.O. – it is hard to 

recognise it as a gallows.  However the cabins near it – see next picture – do seem a bit 

like death-row.  Anyway, it is located before the unused church, as one descends from the 

C.O.’s office towards Charing Cross, and to Gurkhas it has always been  Phansighar:-        
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            The website http://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/The_Connaught_Rangers will give you 

the glorious battle record of “The Devil’s Own”, i.e., the Connaught Rangers.  (Likewise,   

the 23rd Cavalry was a crack fighting unit with a proud battle record by 1915, that was 

why it was in the Lieutenant-Governor’s escort.)  Amongst the famous battles these Irish 

‘devils’ fought were some in South Africa during the Anglo-Boer War of 1899-1902.  

Hardly any local knows, but Dagshai has a fascinating connection with this war.  Many 

Boers were interned as prisoners of war at various places in India during this time.  Of 

these, about 290 were in Dagshai cantonment.  A Boer prisoner of war, C. L`nn, took 

the next photograph of Dagshai – so it is well over a hundred years old!   (This 

photograph and information I had downloaded some years ago, the pages bear the title 

Anglo-Boer War Photo’s (sic), however the website seems obsolete now and email 

bounces back from the given eaddress daniru@anglo-boer.co.za..  Nevertheless, it should 

still be possible to double check,  because there are on the internet many websites run by 

Boer afficiandos of this war.)  Even our expert M.E.S. guides were hard put to place the 

scene precisely in present-day Dagshai, for things have changed.  For example, those 

helpful rows of chimneys that one sees in the picture were knocked out some time ago, at 

least from most A.P.S. rooftops, because of excessive rain coming through them and 

bothering this school’s students.  Anyway, one thing is pretty clear from the picture, the 

conditions of confinement for these P.O.W.’s were pretty laid-back in comparison.  It is  
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very unlikely that the mutineers of the 23rd Cavalry – who had been charged with capital 

crimes – were imprisoned anywhere else but in Dagshai Prison, because no other building 

in this town seems equally suitable from the point of view of security.   

 

            It seems that the most likely place, where ‘the smoking gun’ shall be found, is the 

Army Archives, but light could be shed also by the contemporary municipal records of 

Dagshai.  I remember reading in some historical novel –  was it Mandeep Rai’s charming, 

“In the Shadows of the Pines”, UBS (1996) ? – a description of a ballroom scene in 

Dagshai, with a reading room near the Officer’s Mess.  However, the commanding 

officer assured me that no library existed now, and that he had no idea where all the old 

books and papers could have gone.  A phone-call from him to the superintendent of the 

very old Dagshai Military Hospital – its records of 1915 ought to have something of 

interest about the court-martialled cavalrymen – elicited the reply that their medical 

records did not go further back than 1947.  So, did the British just pack their ‘diligently 

kept’ town records and take them back to Britain?   
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            If so, they did Dagshai a favour.  We are, to put it mildly, notorious at preserving 

records.  Barely a week after someone has been cremated, one can see a raddiwala carting 

away the late lamented’s papers and books, other of course, than his check-book, pass-

book, and so on.  As an example of this propensity of ours, you might also like to have a 

look at the rock next to the Dagshai C.O.’s office, where some imbecile, in a fit of 

misplaced patriotic fervour, obliterated (only the barest signs remain now) the beautifully 

engraved insignias of all the British regiments that were posted in Dagshai before 1947.   

This criminal defacement was done many years ago – the C.O. himself painfully pointed 

it out to me again – I myself had seen this first about 10 years ago. 

            One of the school principals was sure the old records of Dagshai cantonment are 

now in Kasauli – or maybe Dehra Dun, he later qualified – and the way to go was to 

make a formal request for what I wanted to the Station Officer, Kasauli.  I’ll probably try 

that on my next trip, because, besides this problem, I am also interested in some others 

for which these town archives are probably better than the national ones in Delhi.   

            The reader must have realized by now that the problem that I am considering is 

in fact trivial, more exactly that, it should be trivial in a well-functioning democracy.  

Any citizen of the U.S. can obtain authentic information about fifty-year old courts- 

martial by writing a simple email to the Department of Defense.  Yet here, poor Jagjit 

Singh, a scholar toiling on a treatise on an important freedom movement,  was unable 

(apparently) to obtain such information in 1955, ditto Gurcharan Singh Sainsara and his 

“Desh Bhagat Yaadgar Committee” (with Members of Parliament in it) in 1961, down 

the line to us so far in the year of the lord, 2007.   Anyway, as I waited eagerly for one of 

my ‘Paul Drakes’ to come up with this ‘smoking gun’ from Delhi, I decided that I should 

check directly – we have already checked this indirectly through the 1919 police report 

[6] by Isemonger and Slattery – on what the 1916 judgement of the Supplementary 

Lahore Conspiracy Case had to say about this court-martial of 1915. 

          With some help from  Dinesh Khurana, I located (the on-line and card catalogues  

assign it quite different numbers) the following book in the university library.  
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            [9]  “War Against King Emperor (Ghadr of 1914-15) A Verdict by Special 

Tribunal,” editors Malwinder Jit Singh, Harinder Singh,  Bhai Sahib Randhir Singh 

Trust Ludhiana (2001). 

            I had hoped, from the title and the publisher’s name, to find in this book the full 

1916 judgement of the Supplementary Lahore Conspiracy Case.  However this is not so.  

But long extracts are given, which are in italics and interleaved with longer extracts from 

the 1915 judgement of the Lahore Conspiracy Case.  These extracts apparently suffice for 

us, for they seem to contain all the allusions that this tribunal had to make regarding the 

23rd Cavalry’s mutineers.  As surmised before, their court-martial was mentioned only 

incidentally in this 1916 judgement, because some soldiers of the 23rd Cavalry, namely, 

the first five below, were state approvers in this civilian case:-- 
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            We do obtain from the above – which is from “Part II Law Points 14. Approver’s 

Testimony” of the 1916 judgement – one new bit of information: after the box-exploding 

incident, the two approvers involved in it were sent to Jutogh Cantonment, next to 

Simla, so we are not too far from Dagshai now!  Subsequently Balwant Singh (who was 

already cooperating)  was also sent to Jutogh, presumably with policemen, to aid the 

army interrogators in the ‘enquiry’ there; the imprecise ‘about the 15th May’ shows that 

this was outside the judicial ambit.  As against this, precise dates are given on which four 

approvers were ‘examined’ subsequently for this civilian case, but it is unclear if the 

three approvers who were in Jutogh were also brought to Lahore for this purpose.         

            The court-martial is mentioned, amongst the extracts from the 1916 judgement 

that are in [9], apparently only once, on page 212, which is from “Part III The History Of 

The Conspiracy And War, C- The Revolutionists in India – Outline of Proceedings in 

India, III. Activities of the Revolutionists , (4) Seduction of Troops”.  From this page we 

glean another small but important bit of information: by the date this judgement was 

delivered, that is, before March 30, 1916,  the shaheeds had already been executed :--  
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            Like Isemonger and Slattery (1919) and O’Dwyer (1925) after it, this judgement 

of 1916 was silent about where the court-martial took place.  On the other hand, like 

Jagjit Singh (1955) and Gurcharan Singh Sainsara (1961) before them – these two are not 

cited in this book – the editors of [9] again tell us, in  Appendix XVIII, Court Marshals 

(sic) of Servicemen, (A) 23rd Cavalry, pp. 486-487, that  the court-martial was in 

Dagshai, and give us the same list of the 18 convicted soldiers:-- 

 

            However there is a more official air to the data – the father’s name is given in 

each case – this time, and we are told that Abdulla was from a village in district 

Gujranwala, not Lahore; but what caught my eye right away was the assertion that the 

twelve were ‘hanged in Ambala Jail on September 3, 1915’!  Now here, at last, was a 

clear-cut assertion that I could verify, more conveniently so, because a family friend is a 

high-ranking police officer in Haryana, and indeed, he is already on the job as I write 

this.  Note also that the introductory material of Appendix XVIII is clearly by the two 

editors, but they are silent about the authorship of the data which follows it.  I looked 



 40

through the book, and the best guess I could make is:  Bhai Nahar Singh?  This because 

there are, on page xv of  the Foreword, contributed by Kharak Singh, these words: “The 

Editors have based their account largely on the material collected by Bhai Nahar Singh, 

the well-known historiographer, from the archives of the Central Government in New 

Delhi.  It is unfortunate that he expired before the material could see the light of the 

day.” And, even earlier, on page x, a publisher’s note informs us that Bhai Nahar Singh 

was unable to continue his work because of old age, so had “handed over all the material 

collected by him to the present editors Prof. Malwinder Jit Singh and Prof. Harinder 

Singh,” who had now brought his work to fruition. So there was still hope! It was 

possible that in this posthumous material of Bhai Nahar Sahib there were exact archival 

references for the data of ‘Appendix XVIII’?  If so, it could be of great help in getting 

also the complete records of the court-martial.  Clearly, I needed now to get in contact 

with the editors, who alone could answer the questions that I have just posed.  

Notes 

       [9.i]  It is incumbent on any writer to give, for the facts claimed by him, exact and specific references.  
Yet, this elementary tenet of scholarship has been ignored once again.  Also, it is imperative for a scholar to 
acknowledge previous work.  This too is unfortunately not the case.  We found the  names of the eighteen, 
and the statement that the court-martial was in Dagshai, even in the 1955 book [4] of Jagjit Singh.  Yet, 
with the single exception of [2], all subsequent mentions did not acknowledge the existence of this well-
known treatise.  However, it must also be said that Jagjit Singh himself did not leave us – he passed away  
in 1997 – at least not in this treatise, enough clues as to what his own sources were: we have reviewed all 
his citations, and found in none any mention of  Dagshai or a list of the eighteen.   It seems the historians of 
the Ghadr are making the same mistake their heroes made, not paying attention to details.   

        [9.ii] I hasten to add that these are my heroes too—that is why I am engaged in writing this—for the 
passion they brought to their cause, and indeed, passion is to be found in everything worthwhile that has 
ever been done, from great music to great mathematics (unfortunately, being an ‘in’ word,  it is also found 
these days in the mouths of many who show not the slightest symptom of passion).  I prefer history written 
by insiders – it is so much more fun! – but I tend, for better or for worse, to measure their declared passion 
for their cause by the amount of effort I can discern in their finished work. 

        [9.iii]  That “a lot remains hidden” (about the unrest in the army) one can almost sense already in  
Isemonger and Slattery [6] in the ease with which the Ghadrites ‘seduced’ troops.  Apparently only a fait 
acomplii, viz., the disclosure of the court martial of the 23rd Cavalry during the Supplementary Lahore 
Conspiracy Case, had prompted a mention of this particular event in Isemonger and Slattery [6] and 
O’Dwyer [5] ?  Otherwise, the British seemed intent on keeping a lid on things.  That is understandable 
from their  point of view – witness the similar efforts being made by India’s two main political parties to 
keep a similar lid on  Delhi, 1984, and Gujarat, 2002 – but why were all the post-1947 governments 
interested in keeping these old skeletons of the British Raj in the closet?   There seems no logic to “… the 
records were kept secret for security reasons.  Full account shall come out once this veil of secrecy is 
lifted,” but then, there is not much logic to most things in  India’s babudom.  It seems that, from Jagjit 
Singh onwards, these historians have been dependent on ‘leaks’ from sources that cannot be disclosed 
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because they work under these hidebound secrecy rules?  I don’t think RTI can be of much help either  
unless one is demanding clear-cut information – like, ‘did these hangings take place in Ambala Jail on 
September 3, 1915?’ – but by then the historical problem is well-nigh solved. Assuming that this checks 
out, felicitations are due to Bhai Nahar Singh, or whosoever, who obtained this information first. 

          [9.iv]  I have also a quibble with the repeated use of  ‘na vakeel, na daleel, na appeal’ by the editors.  
This catchy slogan, of the next generation of revolutionaries, no doubt reflects correctly the vindictive spirit 
often displayed by the judges, but the book itself tells us that the defence did have  some ‘vakeels’ and did 
make some ‘daleels’: some lawyers are named on p. 7,  both the judgements weigh a number of objections 
raised by them (but almost always the ruling is adverse), and from p. 531 we learn that there were over a 
hundred witnesses for the defence. Only the third part of the slogan was literally true: no appeal was 
possible against conviction or sentence (one could only appeal for clemency).   

            

            § 6.  A lucky break.   Back home on 06/07/07 with [9] from the library, I’d 

started leafing through it, for all on the 23rd Cav, and soon was at Appendix XVIII, and 

realized I needed at get at its source.  Then I had a lucky break!  I saw that one of the 

editors of [9], a grandson of Bhai Randhir Singh, was known to me.  With help again 

from Dinesh – he found me Professor Harinder Singh’s email – I had soon  sent a request 

for this source, mentioning that the only guess I could make was Bhai Nahar Singh?  

Professor Harinder Singh’s net was not working, so he replied only on 11/06/07, referring 

me to his co-editor for information about the 23rd Cav and Bhai Nahar Singh’s papers, 

and gave me his telephone.  Next morning I called, asking if I could come see him for 

Bhai Nahar Singh’s papers and information on the court-martial.  Professor Malwinder 

Jit Singh told me that much had happened since [9] was published: he had now 

everything on the court-martial!  I suppressed the twinge of disappointment – nobody 

likes being ‘scooped,’ not even a johnny-come-lately who started two weeks ago – and 

congratulated him, asking him if I could come over and see?  He said that that was not 

possible for at least three weeks, because he was recovering from surgery and not 

meeting anyone.  I wished him a speedy recovery, requesting him to let me know when I 

could come, and some desultory conversation followed.  Sensing perhaps some 

skepticism creeping back into my disappointment, he then reassured me that he wanted to 

share whatever he had with everyone, he was not one of those who kept things hidden, 

and that, indeed, some time ago he had put up an exhibit on these shaheeds with a 

certificate from Ambala Central Jail that the twelve had been hanged there on 

September 3, 1915, all I needed to do was go to Sector 17 and see it!  I congratulated 

him once again, and told him that I’ll do just that.  



 42

            [10]  “Soldier Martyrs : 1914-1947,  Martyrs of 23rd Cavalry,  Hanging of 12 

Soliders (sic) in Ambala Jail, 3-Sept : 1915,” exhibit at National Gallery of Portraits, 

Sector 17, Chandigarh.  It has three portraits, the ones we have already shown of Sawar 

Inder Singh and Lance-Dafadar Lachhman Singh, and that of Sawar Buta Singh.  

 

 

            [10a]  “Ambala Centerl (sic) Jail Record.”  This is placed, in the gallery 

exhibit,  immediately below the above portrait, and is reproduced on the next page.    

            Two words in its top line are unclear to me, but when I replaced these two words 

by ‘belonging’, it read, “LIST OF POLITICAL PRISONERS OF GADAR PARTY BELONGING TO 

ARMY, COURT MARTIALED BY COMMANDER IN CHIEF OF INDIA DAGSHAI, AND 

SENTENCED TO DEATH.”   The twelve shaheeds are alphabetically  listed, and we find 

from this chilling hangman’s document that, all twelve were sentenced to death on 26th 

August 1915 at Dagshai for the crime of Mutiny, brought to Ambala Central Jail on 

the 30th August, and hanged there on the 3rd September, 1915.  Professor Malwinder 
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Jit Singh has been as good as his word, this is great!  But, shouldn’t due priority be given, 

I thought in admiration, to the scholar who had got to this old jail record first?  The 

certification bears the date 04/05/1999, so maybe it was Bhai Nahar Singh, or maybe he 

had already passed on the baton to the editors of [9]; also, below [10a] was written in 

rather loud letters “(Courtesy: Mahavir Singh Mann & Mrs. Rajwanti Mann, Haryana 

Archives)”; are these Manns claiming this priority then, or mere custodianship?  My 

admiration was based on the fact that I could not figure out how this scholar had made 

the inspired guess that the soldiers had been hanged in Ambala, and not in Dagshai 

itself, or anywhere else (we saw that Dagshai had possibly a gallows, and probably there 

were nearer ones in the same army jurisdiction, then why a civilian jail).   

 

            This puzzlement disappeared to a large extent with the last line of the next item.  

            [10b] “The Tribune 6-Sept: 1915.”  In the exhibit this newspaper cutting was 

below the right-most portrait (Lachhman Singh) under an intermediate item (which 

reminds one of Isemonger-Slattery).  My reading of this news item is given next – two 

words of the last line I could not make out at all – followed by its photo. 
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THE  TROUBLE  IN A CAVALRY  REGIMENT 

CONVICTIONS FOR CONSPIRACY, 

          SIMLA, Sept 5 (?).  A summary general court-martial was held at Dagshai on the 14th ultimo and 
succeeding days in which 16 sowars, one lance-duffedar, and one daffadar, of the 23rd Cavalry (Frontier 
Force) were tried for conspiring between October 15, 1914, and May 15 last to make a mutiny in the 23rd 
Cavalry, in pursuance of which conspiracy bombs were made, telegraph wires were cut, and meetings were 
held at which plans for the mutiny were concerted and thereby abetted.  Of the above mentioned non-
commissioned officers and men eight were also arraigned on the alternative charge that each of them at 
Lahore Cantonment between October 15, 1914, and May 15, 1915, being aware of the existence of a 
conspiracy by members of the Ghadr (Mutiny) party to overthrow the Government by law established in 
British India, in pursuance of which conspiracy certain non-commissioned officers and men of the same 
regiment had agreed to rise in open mutiny, failed to give information thereof  without delay to his 
commanding or other superior officer. 

           The court found 17 of the accused guilty of the first charge, and sentenced them to be hanged, and 
found the 18th accused guilty of the second charge, and sentenced him to transportation for life.  His 
Excellency the Commander-in-Chief confirmed the findings and sentences, commuting however the death 
sentences in the case of five of the convicted sowars to transportation for life, and mitigating the sentence 
in the case of the sowar convicted on the second charge to that of transportation for 10 years.  The 
confirmed sentences of death were duly carried into execution at the (??) jail, Ambala, (??) – C, & M.G.  
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           This newspaper cutting I find simply amazing, for here is the area’s most 

prominent newspaper, publicly reporting the twelve executions in Ambala just two days 

later, with some details about the preceding court-martial at Dagshai!!    This takes all 

the mystery out of our unknown scholar wanting to see the Ambala Jail execution 

register, that’s what anyone would like to do after reading this news item.   

            It also informs us that the court-martial at Dagshai began on the 14th August, 

1915.  So the eighteen were in this town, probably in Dagshai Prison, before this date, but 

when exactly the eighteen were brought to Dagshai we still don’t know.  It is likely this 

was well after 15th May, because that was when one approver from the box-exploding 

incident started talking in Jutogh, and the eighteen who were on (their way to) the war 

front, had to be arrested and brought to these hills.  Perhaps first to Jutogh, for that would 

be more convenient for the Simla based interrogators, or directly to Dagshai Prison for 

security reasons (if so, the “kaffir” story of Sanyal pertains to this prison only). 

            As per this news item, one sawar was sentenced to life by the court-martial, 

and on review by the C-in-C, his sentence was reduced to 10 years, the other 17 

sentences being as we have been reading thus far.  Thus we have here a material 

difference from what we found in the previously reviewed items.  Even Appendix XVIII  

of [9]!   But I have a feeling in this case it is a slip, Bhai Nahar Singh had to have this 

news item – for this is the most natural explanation of his wanting to see the hangman’s 

register of Ambala Jail – and that he and/or the editors of [9] overlooked this fact given in 

their news cutting, probably because of its bad quality.  

            It seems clear to me that, if Jagjit Singh [4] or Gurcharan Singh Sainsara [3] had 

read this news item of 1915, they too would have made a beeline for the Ambala Jail to 

get the hangman’s record.  (This would have been well within the resources of the “Desh 

Bhagat Yaadgar Committee.” These days this organization has a website and much more, 

but the email I sent – to obtain sources of the data in [3] about 23rd Cav – bounced back.  

A similar query to the Deputy Commissioner, Amritsar, regarding the data in the 1976 

Amritsar Gazetteer [1], has reached him, but remains unanswered.)  At the very least, they 

would have then put in their books, some or all of the extra information that one gets by 
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merely reading this news item, viz., the date on which the court-martial at Dagshai began,  

the fact that the executions were in Ambala, the date by which they had been carried out, 

and that one of the sawars had received a lesser sentence. 

             Thus it seems true that, the treatises [3] and [4] on the Ghadr of 1914-15 were 

written without their authors having bothered to read through the contemporary 

files of the most prominent newspaper of this region!  This is a bit too much.  It is 

akin, in the modern context, to someone wanting to write, say, “The Fake Encounters of 

1990-91,”  without reading the relevant news items for that year.  Yes, Gurcharan Singh 

Sainsara [3], does include the ‘Tribune’ of Lahore in his list of references at the end, but 

clearly he – or even his “Desh Bhagat Yaadgar Committee” as a whole – did not read  all 

the relevant news items from it.  

              Considering how carelessly even the ‘Tribunes’ of 1915 were used, should we 

presume that the archives in Delhi have been used any more carefully?  Yes, contacts are 

essential in India – otherwise even academics ignore requests for information – and there  

may even be a veil of secrecy, but one can’t help feeling that, if someone had really set 

his heart to it, he would have found by now something as innocuous as the records of a 

1915 court-martial.  Anyway, I am putting this to the test, so let’s see if my ‘Paul 

Drakes’, who are still very much at it in Delhi, will help ferret out this record.  

             Talking about archives, there is a citation of [3] that we have still to check, and it 

is to the National Archives of India: using p. 286, the footnote [*] on p. 214 – see the 

extract I reproduced – seems to say: “Proceedings of the Home Department (Political 

and/or Police) October 1915, nos. 671-84, ‘India as I Knew It, p. 203’.”  The positioning 

of the asterisk at paragraph-end leaves us in doubt as to exactly which of the statement(s) 

made in it were based on these references; the latter half of the footnote, i.e., p. 203 of 

O’Dwyer [5], only gave us a mention of the court-martial and the number of soldiers 

sentenced to death or life; let us wait and see what exactly the first half will give.  

Notes 

       [10.i]  Why were these army convicts hanged in a civilian jail (Ambala Jail was a civilian jail even in 
1915)?  This is not clear to me at all.  Perhaps only the judgement of the court-martial will explain this 



 47

legal/administrative point, but why was a more legible copy of the hangman’s order not used in the exhibit?  
The two doubtful words of its top line can be important, for it seems these condemned soldiers were no 
longer being treated quite as army responsibility. Prof. Malwinder Jit Singh told me on the phone that 
Dagshai was then in Ambala district – I presume he has verified this – but why should civilian districts 
matter to the army, its jurisdictions are demarcated differently?  Certainly, it was not the army’s practice to  
sentence all soldiers to death only by hanging, and that too in the nearest civilian jail with gallows.  Five 
years on, James Daly was treated quite differently, he was executed by the army in Dagshai itself by firing 
squad.  Was it by any chance the case that the British Indian Army – so many years after 1857 – was  still 
saving on powder by putting all its non-white mutineers to death only by hanging?  Even when this saving 
was more than offset by the expense of sending them all the way to Ambala from Dagshai?  

        [10.ii] Again, why was a more legible copy of the all-important newspaper cutting from the ‘Tribune’ 
not used in the exhibit?   It seems from the above photograph that it had been lying wrinkled in somebody’s 
(maybe Bhai Nahar Singh’s?) private papers for years, before it was smoothed out, photocopied, and put up 
as this exhibit.  Lots of words were blurred, and there seems even to be some mild over-writing in the end.  
No wonder, the important fact that one sawar had received a lesser sentence was not observed:  I myself 
had to spend quite some time staring at the enhancement that I had made on the computer screen from the 
digital picture I took before this became clear to me.  Yet, as my reading given above shows, I could still 
not make out two possibly important words in the end, and am not certain of its dateline.  On top of it, it is 
frustrating that the gallery personnel do not even keep a magnifying glass, that an interested visitor like me 
can borrow to (try to) read such minute exhibits. 

         [10.iii]  As against this, the names of the functionaries of the Haryana state archives, which loaned 
one of these barely legible exhibits, are announced in letters of a size you can’t miss.   Nice people I am 
sure, but I would have liked also to know the primary source(s) of the three photographs?   Were these 
from personnel records in the Army archives, or loaned by some descendants?  Or again, the exact 
reference of the, presumably no longer secret, ‘official enquiry report on conspiracy in the 23rd Cavalry’ 
(from which some Isemonger-Slattery type of generalities are quoted)?   And why, pray, does this national 
gallery not amend those spelling howlers on its panels that even a schoolchild would be ashamed of?  Or, 
send someone over to the local ‘Tribune’ building to fetch a better copy of that news item? 

 

               We are faced here with a problem, for a news cutting from “The Tribune 6-

Sept: 1915” is quite impossible!  The point being that – as an easy ‘date to day-of-the-

week’ calendar calculation will show you – it  was a Monday on September 6, 1915; but 

Sabbath was a fairly serious matter in the British India of 1915 – even the presses of the 

‘Tribune’ did not roll on Sundays – so there was no ‘Tribune’ on Mondays.   

Apparently, like me above, the possessors of the old and barely legible newspaper cutting 

had misread its dateline as “SIMLA, Sept 5” and jumped to the wrong conclusion that, much 

like nowadays, it must have appeared in the ‘Tribune’ of the next day.  Actually, this 

news item appeared in the Sunday ‘Tribune’ of September 5, 1915, and its dateline is 

“SIMLA, Sept 3”,  that is, the very day on which our twelve shaheeds were hanged in 

Ambala Central Jail.  Thanks to a word put in yesterday (16/07/07) to the ‘Records 

Section’ by an editor of the ‘Tribune’ who is known to me, I was able to obtain quickly a 

perfectly legible digital picture of this news item that is shown next. 
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            In particular, the previously doubtful concluding words of the news item, are now 

perfectly clear: “… at the civil jail, Ambala, to-day.”   
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             A war was going on, unpleasant news about the army were severely rationed by 

the Civil and Military Gazette (that’s what C. & M. G. denotes), but someone powerful in 

Simla who could order this official news agency about – I think O’Dwyer himself – had 

decided nevertheless that the exemplary punishment meted out to the former cavalrymen 

in his personal escort, who had dared to be disloyal to his King-Emperor, should be made 

public as soon as it had been administered to them in Ambala Central Jail?   One can 

imagine an aide of his, anxiously awaiting that telephone call from Ambala, and as soon 

as death’s knell rang, sending his prepared script over the wire.  Fanciful?  Maybe.  But I 

for one would not mind perusing the daily diary and official log of the Lieutenant-

Governor of the Punjab for that terrible Friday, the 3rd of September, 1915. 

           “At the civil jail, Ambala, to-day.” So much lies hidden behind these few  

words.  Twelve hangings in a single day, and now 92 years on, this is all that we have, 

from a news item that the historians of this rebellion forgot to read.  The city in which 

they were hanged has forgotten them entirely, ditto the hamlet in the hills where they 

were sentenced to death by a wrathful tribunal.  Were they hanged one by one, or all at 

once twelve in a row, or maybe, three at a time B la  Rajguru, Bhagat Singh and Sukhdev 

much later? Were the bewailing parents – the hangman’s register gives the father’s name 

as Chanchal Singh, we don’t know the mother’s – of  dashing Sawar Buta Singh there in 

Ambala that day, and if so, were they allowed to take his body and cremate it properly 

after Ardas in a Gurdwara?  Was grieving Alah Din from village Tapral in Gujranwala, 

the father of  Nalband Abdulla (what did he look like), who had now indeed found his 

cherished “bahisht” hanging next to that “kaffir”,  his charismatic leader Lance-Duffedar 

Lachhman Singh, in Ambala too on that black Friday ?  And what about this Lachhman 

Singh of Chuslewar – his Army record should tell us the undoubted gallantry that he must 

have displayed in the previous battles of the Frontier Force – what had drawn him, and 

his cavalry squadron, to the attention of O’Dwyer – himself a lover of horses – and how 

had the two interacted for the time he was in the latter’s escort, what was so special in 

him that his sawars were prepared to ride with him into the jaws of death, and did?  Of 

course, much has been irretrievably lost, but I have a feeling that a lot can still be 

painstakingly reconstructed if historians set their mind to it.  
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           [10.iv]  A ‘fictional historical movie’ – i.e., something as mindless as ‘Mangal Pandey’ or ‘Shaheed 
Udham Singh’ – would of course be dead easy to make on Chuslewar and his men, but that is not at all 
what I am talking about.  I am thinking more on the lines of how the Irish have gathered and preserved data 
on James Daly and the other Irish mutineers who were housed in Dagshai Prison five years later.  
Something like that will require significantly more effort than a Bollywood movie, but is, to my mind, a 
much more worthwhile thing to do, if these heroes of 1915 are to be properly honoured. 

           [10.v]  I also browsed through the ‘Tribunes’ of  the three preceding, and the one succeeding, weeks.  
In the issue of August 21, 1915, I found two mentions of the 23rd Cavalry court-martial, one specified that 
the court-martial had started on August 14 and will take some days to complete.  Since we learn nothing 
extra from these news items I have not reproduced their photos here. 

           [10.vi]  Let me conclude this journal for now – I’ll resume after my ‘Paul Drakes’ have found me 
enough new material to review – by reminding you how the calendar calculation can be made.  Yesterday 
was July 16, 2007.  The alleged date of the ‘Tribune’ news cutting was September 6, 1915.  One needs 
(24+31+30+31) more days from this to get to the next year 1916;  the next 91years have (91 x 365) + 23 
days because there are 23 intervening leap years; this brings us to the beginning of 2007, of which 
yesterday was the  (31+28+31+30+31+30+16)th day.  But I knew that yesterday was  Monday.  So to prove 
that September 16, 1915 was also a Monday,  I need to show that the sum of these three numbers, i.e., 
(24+31+30+31) + (91 x 365) + 23 + (31+28+31+30+31+30+16) is divisible by 7.  This is straightforward, 
and can be speeded up a lot if we note that multiples of 7 can be ‘thrown out’ at any time, these are called  
calculations mod 7.  For example 91 = 0 mod 7 because 91 is a multiple of 7.  Likewise the first term 
(24+31+30+31) = (3+3+2+3) = 11 = 4 mod 7.  The third, i.e., 23 = 2 mod 7, and the last 
(31+28+31+30+31+30+16) = (3+0+3+2+3+2+2) = 15 = 1 mod 7.  So the sum of all the four terms is 
4+0+2+1 = 7 = 0 mod 7. q.e.d.  So such sums are pretty simple as long as one  remembers the definition of 
a ‘leap year’: these are years which are divisible by 4, except that, for years divisible by 100, we insist on 
divisibility by 400.  So 2000 was a leap year – one of the 23 in the above calculation – but 1900, 1800 and 
1700 were not leap years, then 1600 was.  All this pertains of course only to the usual (post-1582 
Gregorian) calendar; some pretty serious historical goof-ups can, and have, been made while switching 
between different calendars.  For your amusement (there was much else in these old ‘Tribunes’ that was 
quite interesting too) here is a news item from the ‘Tribune’ of August 15, 1915, showing how seriously the 
Christian Sabbath was observed in British India then:-- 

 


